Research Report: Social Prescribing & Family Caregivers Support Deborah Ithenumah – N01249314 Ifeyinwa Nwoko – N00292311 Verena Ayad – N01159588 Senior Level Thesis Seminar – CDEV 4005 Professor Christine McKenzie April 12, 2021

Abstract

The COVID-19 pandemic has brought unprecedented interruptions to the social, economic, and political order across the globe. These disruptions have been felt by family caregivers who use the Rexdale Community Health Centre's social prescribing support programs and services. This study, done in collaboration with Rexdale Community Health Centre (RCHC), adopted a qualitative methodology to investigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the role, mental, and physical health of family caregivers in the Rexdale community. Also, to examine the impact the COVID-19 pandemic has on support for family caregivers and the types of social support they need, a purposive sampling method was used to select four family caregivers who were engaged through semi-structured phone interviews, which were transcribed and analyzed using the thematic analysis method. The findings indicated that the pandemic affected the mental and emotional health of most participants. The pandemic also impacted the participants' time for self-care and access to social prescribing support programs and services due to lack of time because they were too busy caring for their family members. Based on the findings, the researchers recommend that in-home support, such as personal support workers to assist family caregivers with a sick family member and regular check-in calls to check on how they are coping and their general wellbeing, will be beneficial to family caregivers.

Acknowledgements

With the generous support and assistance of many people, this research project became a reality. The researchers would like to express their heartfelt gratitude to everyone who contributed to the success of this research.

First and foremost, we want to thank our Almighty God for the wisdom, courage, peace of mind, and good health that he has bestowed upon us to complete this research project.

To Professor Christine McKenzie Ph.D., our faculty research supervisor, for sharing her knowledge and expertise with us during this research project. We are truly grateful.

We would also like to express our sincere appreciation to Rexdale Community Health Centre for providing us with the opportunity to collaborate with them on this research. To Althena Martin-Risden and Wendy Caceres-Speakman of Rexdale Community Health Centre (RCHC) for their encouragement, time, continuous supervision, and for providing necessary information about this research project and for their help in completing the research. To Melinda Ferlin-Tiller, RCHC's Director of Operations and Technology Coach, thank you for setting up the Survey Monkey interview questions link, which was used as one of the tools to analyze the data.

3

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	3
Introduction	5
Research Context	6
Project Focus/Research Questions	7
Situating Self as a Researcher	7
Literature Review	9
Project Design	11
Ethical Considerations	13
Key Findings	13
Contributions/Recommendations	16
Limitations	17
Directions for Future Research	17
References	
Appendix A: Consent Form - Interview	20
Appendix B: Interview Questions	22
Appendix C: Student Research Ethics Agreement	24

Introduction

Social prescribing, which started in England in the 1990s is gradually spreading across to other countries such as New Zealand and Canada. "Social prescribing - sometimes called community referrals - is a means of enabling primary care services to refer patients with social, emotional or practical needs to a range of non-clinical services" (Clements-Cortes, 2019). It is an approach that seeks to support and address people's health needs using a broader lens, knowing that there are various factors that determine the health and wellbeing of an individual.

In the summer of 2018, Rexdale Community Health Centre (RCHC), a non-profit organization located in the City of Toronto in Rexdale, North Etobicoke was one of the 11 community health centres across the Province of Ontario that participated in a research project spearheaded by the Alliance for Healthier Communities to examine the efficacy of Social Prescribing. According to a progress report from Alliance for Healthier Communities published in June of 2019, "Social prescribing is a simple yet transformative way of supporting patients' health and well-being by responding to their need for social connectedness" (Alliance for Healthier Communities, 2019). Rexdale Community Health Centre used social prescribing in the following ways: Providing a box of food every two weeks to some families and seniors clients who identified as food insecure and also sending families/family caregivers for a visit either to Ripley's Aquarium, the Art Gallery of Ontario (AGO) or the Royal Ontario Museum (ROM). They did this to see how these new initiatives would improve the mental and physical health of program participants.

Over time, from when the pilot project started in the summer of 2018 to when it ended in 2019, Rexdale Community Health Centre (RCHC) noticed the positive impact of providing a box of food every two weeks and sending families/family caregivers for a visit either to Ripley's

Aquarium, the AGO or ROM had on the general health of family caregivers and seniors who participated. To determine the effectiveness of the two social prescribing pilot programs for seniors and family caregivers, Rexdale Community Health Centre (RCHC) used the data they collected from questionnaires filled by participants before starting the programs and at the end of these programs. Also, Rexdale Community Health Centre (RCHC) used conversations/comments with seniors and family caregivers who participated in these programs to evaluate the impact of the programs. The result from these evaluations shows how social prescription can help to support the mental and physical health of family caregivers, which in turn enables them to perform better in their roles. The social prescribing pilot project ended last year, but Rexdale Community Health Centre (RCHC) has continued to offer Food Boxes to seniors and family caregivers in the Rexdale community.

Research Context

The research project was conducted in partnership with Rexdale Community Health Centre (RCHC). Rexdale Community Health Centre is located in Rexdale, North Etobicoke, in the city of Toronto. According to Statistics Canada, 2016 census profile, North Etobicoke has a population of about 118,040 people, with immigrants making up more than 50% of its population (Statistics Canada, 2019). RCHC provides primary health care, chronic disease management, health promotion programs and services for children, youths, adults and seniors in the Rexdale community. The mission of the organization is "Our doors are open to support and advocate for the physical, economic, social and mental health and well-being of our diverse community and partners to improve equitable access to quality care and services" (Rexdale Community Health Centre, 2019). Family caregivers who live in the Rexdale community and are either current or former clients of the Rexdale Community Health Centre are the target group for this study.

Project Focus/Research Questions

The world has experienced a significant change in the way people socialize, communicate and the way people go about their everyday lives since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. These restrictions, which require social and physical distancing of people, have limited access to in-person services and programs at RCHC. The social prescribing program for senior/family caregivers, such as a visit to AGO, delivered through Rexdale Community Health Centre (RCHC), has now been moved to a virtual platform. The shift from in-person to virtual program delivery and the social and physical distancing have caused much discussion and uncertainty at RCHC, mostly about how this new way of life might be impacting the role of family caregivers in the Rexdale community.

This research which was done in partnership with Rexdale Community Health Centre (RCHC), seeks to investigate and analyze trends we are seeing now, in terms of the impact of COVID-19 around family caregiving in the Rexdale community. Specifically, this study aimed to answer the following research questions more clearly:

- 1. How is the COVID-19 impacting the role, mental and physical health of family caregivers in the Rexdale community?
- 2. How has COVID-19 affected support for family caregivers in the Rexdale community?
- 3. How can social prescribing to support family caregivers be modified and facilitated given the COVID-19 pandemic?

Situating Self as a Researcher

Deborah will be classified in the same social location as a family caregiver because she is a parent herself who has had to take care of her child and herself during this global pandemic. Though the research is a parent, she recognizes that people have several identities; that intersect in various areas of their lives. The researcher acknowledges her privileges as a well-educated young parent with an able body, a career, and the love and support of her immediate family during the pandemic. So, while she may be socially located in the same group as a family caregiver, their lived experiences are significantly different, so the researcher approached the participants from an anti-oppressive frame.

Iffy has no previous experience with this research topic, but has worked with caregivers, people who help vulnerable groups such as homeless men, seniors, and people with mental health issues. Some of these caregivers are taking medications to help them deal with their mental wellbeing or other medical problems. The researcher realised that she had no idea how to better address the needs of these people at work. Social prescribing is a new concept in her workplace, and she not sure how beneficial it is to the population they serve. The similarity between her workplace and RCHC is that they share common objectives of providing support through services for their community members, particularly those who are vulnerable, based on the insightful information gained through this research on social prescribing and family caregivers support at RCHC. To empower caregivers to participate in the programs in order to alleviate loneliness and facilitate relief assistance.

Verena was an outsider since she was not a family caregiver. She was neither a resident of Rexdale and neither did she have a patient at the center. She thus approached caregivers as an expert to learn their experiences and share insights. The research was anti-oppressive because the researcher created a good rapport and made the commitment to the caregivers. However, the researcher felt related to the interviewees because they are from the same Arabic background.

Literature Review

A preliminary literature review shows that past research has been primarily focused on the use of social prescribing before the covid-19 pandemic, where physical and social distancing was not required.

Social Prescribing

Social prescription is essential in handling patients with chronic conditions such as diabetes as it helps in maintaining their sugar levels (Verma, Punyani & Kalra, 2020). It translates to the well-being of the patients as their blood pressure levels are well maintained through engaging activities that reduce their stress levels. Once a patient is referred to a social prescription then, it reduces the chances of inappropriate medication (Thorpe. J, Thorpe. C, Kennelty, Gellad, & Schulz, 2012). This is because it is easier to identify what they are going through and prescribe them an activity that will make them feel better. Social prescription further helps in solving human social problems through the identification of activities they can work well in like participating in charity groups. (Payne, Walton, & Burton, 2020). Pescheny, Pappas, & Randhawa (2018) conducted a systematic literature review to outline several factors that promote and hinder social prescribing in the UK, including the implementation process, workshops, partnerships, resources, and communication. The correlation between promoting factors and barriers was also analysed in their research.

Social prescription aims to support individuals in controlling their health; it considers factors that determine their well-being, including economic, social, and environmental factors (Pescheny, Randhawa & Pappas, 2018). Clients are referred to a range of non-clinical local services, which ensures their mental wellbeing is achieved (Kimberlee, 2015). Rexdale

Community Health Centre is a strong believer in social prescription and the use of it to support and enhance the well-being of clients. Furthermore, social prescription engages in capacitybuilding programs that empower individuals to achieve their best results in their wellbeing. Social prescription initiatives have been adopted by the UK National Health Service, mainly to integrate social care and health (Carnes et al., 2017). It works by prescribing activities that are non-clinical to improve patient's wellbeing, hence hastening their recovery from any illnesses or challenges they have (Kimberlee, 2015).

Family Caregivers

Family caregivers in this research context are people in a family who provide care for other family members. Angelo, Egan, & Reid (2013) used a nominal group technique, which is a form of a focus group, to understand the stress family caregivers face. According to the authors, the result from their finding shows three prevailing priorities for educating family caregivers: developing practical skills; caring for oneself physically, mentally and spiritually; and knowing what to expect and brace for as the health of the family member declines (Angelo, Egan, & Reid, 2013). Dhavale, Koparkar, & Fernandes (2020) used a qualitative framework method to analyse the challenges faced by patients and their family caregivers during the COVID-19 lockdown, and what could be done to support them. The results from their research were broken down into three sections. The challenges patients face, such availability of medication, feeling isolated, etc. Family caregiver stress, which includes; fear of inadequacy, lack of information and resources, worry about their own health, etc. Lastly the support from the social work team, such as counselling patients, support for both patients and family caregivers.

Project Design

The research method used for this research is qualitative. The number of participants used for this research was four participants. A small sample size was adequate because of the detailed data that was generated from each participant. The demographic of interest in this research project are family caregivers who live in the Rexdale community and are RCHC client.

Sampling/Recruitment

Purposive sampling is the method used for this study. "Purposive sampling is used to select respondents that are most likely to yield appropriate and useful information and is a way of identifying and selecting cases that will use limited research resources effectively" (Campbell et al., 2020, pp. 653-654). The researchers and the community partners chose this form of sampling because to achieve research aims, objectives and get the expected outcomes for this research the sample has to fit certain criteria such as being a family caregiver who lives in the Rexdale community and is a current or previous client of Rexdale Community Health Centre. To recruit participants, Rexdale Community Health Centre (RCHC) identified their clients who are family caregivers in the Rexdale community, informed them about the research, and provided them with details about the capstone research. Participants who were interested contacted RCHC, and verbal informed consent was obtained after the details on the participant consent form were read to them over the phone. The researchers also read the content in the participant consent form and received verbal consent from the participants before starting the interview. Consent Form - Interview (Appendix A)

Data Collection

In this research project, data were collected through one-on-one phone interviews, asking open-ended interview questions. The researchers interviewed 4 participants, with each researcher conducting 1-2 interviews each. The phone interviews were conducted from February 25, 2021, through February 26, 2021. Each interview took approximately 30 minutes of the participant's time. A translator was provided by RCHC for a participant whose English was not their first language. Also, a phone recorder, note-taking, and otter ai recording application (otter.ai), were used to record the interviews in this qualitative research to enable the researchers to concentrate and listen to the participants during the interview process. Interview question (Appendix B)

Data Analysis

Thematic Analysis: This is a process of "grouping the data into themes that will help answer the research question(s) (Pell Institute, n.d.). Putting the data collected into themes allowed the researchers to make meaning of the data. The researchers chose this method of data analysis because they felt that looking through the data slowly and writing down the themes they discovered as they progressed would enable them to get the best possible results from the data. Also, because most of the questions were open-ended questions, not having a list of codes or themes before the researchers started analyzing allowed them to view the data with an open and unbiased mind.

A combination of Survey Monkey analysis and Microsoft Word was used to code and analyze the data. All the collected data were entered into Survey Monkey to capture respondent answers. The researchers also recorded participants interview responses on Microsoft Word, used the comment feature to create anchor codes based on the research questions, assigned codes to the anchor codes, sorted them into categories, and tallied how many times a code appeared to find common themes to make meaning of the data collected (Methodology Related Presentations - TCSPP, 2016).

Ethical Considerations

Given the current situation of COVID-19, the researchers conducted the research activities remotely using secure interfaces. The secured interfaces include SurveyMonkey account for data analysis that is password-protected, private phone line for phone Interview. The student researcher signed the Student Researcher Ethics Agreement that indicated their compliance with all ethical requirements regarding the study, including confidentiality and privacy (Appendix C). The lead faculty approved the thesis final proposal before students embarked on data collection. The Community Partner Lead and the researchers read the information on the consent form to the participants over the phone, which outlined the research purpose, research process, and the participants' phone rights and privileges such as confidentiality and privacy (Appendix A). The Community Partner Lead and the researchers received verbal informed consent from participants before starting the interview.

Key Findings

In analysing the interview data, the following themes emerged:

Impacts of COVID-19 on Family Caregivers

The data analysis revealed that half of the participants believe the pandemic is affecting their roles as family caregivers. Below are the main themes the research found.

Emotional & Mental Stress: The responses of the participants showed that the pandemic, social distancing and isolation are impacting the family caregivers emotionally and mentally. The family caregivers reported that they are more anxious because they are afraid that something could happen to family members especially the ones with disabilities if they are not actively monitoring and looking after them.

Lifestyle Change: The participants reported that the global pandemic is affecting their daily lives. Before the pandemic, even though they were caring for their family members, they were still able to go out for walks sometimes, meet up with friends and visit other family members. But since the pandemic started, they are always at home because of the social restrictions caused by the pandemic.

Self-Care: According to the response to the questions of hours they dedicate to caregiving weekly and how the COVID-19 has impacted them, most of the family caregivers are neglecting to take time off for self-care because they are too busy caring for their family members. Most of the participants stated they are dedicating 24 hours a day to caregiving, and that they are constantly caring and worrying about the wellbeing of other family members. (See figure 1)

Figure 1

Before the Pandemic	During the Pandemic
23	24
24	24
24	24
24	24

Approximately, how many hours weekly did/do you dedicate to caregiving?

COVID-19 Impact on Support

Lack of Time and Loss of Interest: The findings showed that 50% of the family caregivers were not accessing programs and services to support themselves due to the lack of time to do other things, care for self and the loss of interest in other things because the pandemic is making everything overwhelming. One of the family caregivers stated that "I don't have time to access any program", and another participant said that "I am not interested in any other information because it is enough for me only to read the Bible". See figure 2 for the percentage of participants accessing programs and services.

Figure 2



Social Prescribing and Types of Support for Family Caregivers

The finding indicated that most participants were less likely to use online support programs and services even if prescribed to them by their family physician. However, they prefer face-to-face interaction, support and programs such as external personal support workers for a sick family member and in-home assistance. See Figure 3 for responses to how likely they are to use support programs and services prescribed by their family physician.





Types of Support: One of the participants stated that "I have got to do all the work for my wife, if I can get some help, that will be good. like a support worker would be good". Another family caregiver stated that the type of support they need is "Getting phone calls, usually to see how I am are doing".

Contributions/Recommendations

The themes identified from the interview of family caregivers in the Rexdale community indicated that most of the family caregivers were impacted, emotionally, mentally, socially by the COVID-19 pandemic. The findings also provide important directions for support for family caregivers. In terms of support for family caregivers, based on the finding family caregivers will

benefit from in-home support such as personal support worker to assist them with a sick family member, and family caregivers may also benefit from getting routine check-in calls, from RCHC to check on their mental and physical wellbeing.

Limitations

The study had a few limitations, including the setting for phone interviews, the method of data collecting, and bias due to the small number of participants. Since the interviews were conducted through phone calls, the researchers could not learn the respondents' body language. For future research, the number of participants could be increased, and more than one data collection method could be used. The researchers feel that using two or more data gathering methods, such as interviews and focus groups or surveys, and increasing the number of participants, might have resulted in more data for analysis.

Directions for Future Research

Based on the findings and the limitations mentioned above, for future research, the researchers could increase the sample size and use a combination of two or more data collection methods to instigate and compare the mental and emotional impact of the covid-19 pandemic among senior family caregivers and young family caregivers.

References

- Angelo, J. K., Egan, R., & Reid, K. (2013). Essential knowledge for family caregivers: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Palliative Nursing*, 19(8), 383-388. doi:10.12968/ijpn.2013.19.8.383
- Clements-Cortés, Amy, PhD, RP, MTA, MT-BC, FAMI. (2019). A social prescription for music please. *The Canadian Music Educator*, *60*(2), 31-33. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.humber.ca/login?url=https://www-proquest com.ezproxy.humber.ca/docview/2188119831?accountid=11530
- Dhavale, P., Koparkar, A., & Fernandes, P. (2020). Palliative care interventions from a social work perspective and the challenges faced by patients and caregivers during COVID-19. *Indian Journal of Palliative Care, 26*(5), 58-62. doi:10.4103/IJPC.IJPC 149 20
- Howarth, M., Griffiths, A., da Silva, A., & Green, R. (2020). Social prescribing: A 'natural' community-based solution. *British Journal of Community Nursing*, 25(6), 294-298. doi:10.12968/bjcn.2020.25.6.294
- Lightfoot, E., & Moone, R. P. (2020). Caregiving in times of uncertainty: Helping adult children of aging parents find support during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, , 1-11. doi:10.1080/01634372.2020.1769793
- Methodology Related Presentations TCSPP. (2016, December 17). *Qualitative Analysis: Coding and Categorizing Data by Philip Adu, Ph.D.* [Video]. YouTube. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=v_mg7OBpb2Y</u>
- Pell Institute. (n.d.). *Analyze Qualitative Data « Pell Institute*. The Pell Institute and Pathways to College Network. Retrieved March 6, 2021, from http://toolkit.pellinstitute.org/evaluation-guide/analyze/analyze-qualitative-data/
- Pescheny, J. V., Pappas, Y., & Randhawa, G. (2018). Facilitators and barriers of implementing and delivering social prescribing services: A systematic review. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 86-86. doi:10.1186/s12913-018-2893-4
- Razai, M. S., Oakeshott, P., Kankam, H., Galea, S., & Stokes-Lampard, H. (2020). Mitigating the psychological effects of social isolation during the covid-19 pandemic. *Bmj*, 369, m1904-m1904. doi:10.1136/bmj.m1904
- Rexdale Community Health Centre. (2019). *About*. Rexdale Community Health Centre. https://www.rexdalechc.com/about

- Rexdale Community Health Centre. (2021, March 5). Social Prescribing & Family Caregivers Support Research. SurveyMonkey. https://nl.surveymonkey.com/results/SM-89CMRD6K9/
- Smith, B., & Lim, M. (2020). How the COVID-19 pandemic is focusing attention on loneliness and social isolation. *Public Health Research & Practice*, 30(2) doi:10.17061/phrp3022008
- Social prescribing: Community-based referral in public health. (2018). Perspectives in PublicHealth, 138(1), 18-19. doi:10.1177/1757913917736661

Statistics Canada. (2019, August 9). Census Profile, 2016 Census - Etobicoke North [Federal electoral district], Ontario and Ontario [Province]. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=FED&Code1=35029&Geo2=PR&Code2=35&SearchText=Etobicoke%20North&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=01&B1=All&GeoLevel=PR&GeoCode=35029&TABID=1&type=0

www.nhsconfed.org. (2020, February 6). *How social prescribing has adapted during the COVID-19 pandemic* | *Christiana Melam and James Sanderson*. NHS Confederation. https://www.nhsconfed.org/blog/2020/06/how-social-prescribing-adapted-during-thecovid19-pandemic

Appendices

Appendix A: Consent Form - Interview

Consent Form - Interview

Social Prescribing and Family Caregivers Support

Dear Participant:



Thank-you for considering participation in this Capstone Project being undertaken by Humber College Community Development Degree students in partnership with Rexdale Community Health Centre (RCHC). Lead from RCHC is Althea Martin-Risden, Director Health Promotion, and Wendy Caceres-Speakman Manager, Services For Seniors RCHC, 416-744-6312 ext 2233.

Should you have any concerns about this research or require any information please contact our research supervisor.

Research Supervisor:

Christine McKenzie, PhD., Professor Community Development Degree 416-675-6622 <u>Christine.Mckenzie@humber.ca</u>

This project has received approval from Humber's Research Ethics Board. Persons with broader issues related to ethical concerns can contact The Humber Review Ethics Board Chair, Dr. Lydia Boyko at: 416-675-6622 ext. 79322 or by email at: Lydia.Boyko@humber.ca

Purpose of the Project:This research which will be done in partnership with Rexdale
Community Health Centre (RCHC), seeks to investigate and analyze
trends we are seeing now, in terms of how the COVID-19 pandemic is
impacting family caregivers in the Rexdale community.

Before signing this consent form, please review participation criteria:

- Participation is completely voluntary
- > You can opt out of the answering questions at any time if you change your mind
- You are not required to answer all the questions. You can skip questions if you are not comfortable answering them
- Your identity will remain anonymous. Anything you share will be kept confidential by the student and not linked directly to you
- Only faculty supervisors, students and agency partner conducting the interview will have access to raw data
- Results will be reported will be anonymized. That means your responses won't be specifically identified as yours but overall feedback from the group will be shared
- All data collected will be securely stored in a password protected electronic file and destroyed at the end of the project (April 2021)

- > Participation will take approximately 45 minutes of your time
- The benefit of participating is the opportunity to reflect. The harm in participating is you many not agree with the responses of others and could be disappointed with the findings

I ______, consent to participating in the Capstone Project. I understand the participation criteria as noted above.

Name of Participant: _____

Signature: _____

Dated: ______

Appendix B: Interview Questions

1. Approximately, how many hours weekly did /do you dedicate to caregiving: Before the Pandemic _____ During the Pandemic _____

Same Amount _____ Not Sure_____

2. Has COVID-19 impacted your role as a family caregiver?

If Yes then ask question Q2 If No go to Q3

- In what ways has the COVID-19 pandemic impacted your role as a family caregiver? For example, mentally, physically, emotionally, and financially? COMMENT
- 4. Are you currently accessing any services/ programs at Rexdale Community Health Centre that support you in your role as a family caregiver?

If Yes ask Q4 if No go to Q5

5. In what ways do these programs/services supports you in your role as a family caregiver during this COVID-19 pandemic?

COMMENT

6. What are the things that get in the way or prevent you from accessing social programs and services?

COMMENT

- What type of support do you think would be helpful for you at this time? COMMENT
- How likely would you be able to attend programs/services if they were prescribed to you by your family physician?
 Very likely More Likely Neutral Less Likely Don't Know

9. What day/s and time of the week would you be likely to attend an online or telephone social support programs?

COMMENT

10. Is there anything you would like to add?

COMMENT

Appendix C: Student Research Ethics Agreement



Bachelor of Community Development Capstone Project: Research Ethics Agreement

I, **[insert student name]**, understand of the content of the Research Ethics Board principles and application to my Capstone Project and agree to comply with all ethical, confidentiality and privacy requirements therein.

In addition, specific Bachelor of Bachelor of Community Development requirements and restrictions are:

- No contact with vulnerable populations on the basis of age, and/or physical and mental abilities/disabilities.
- No physical contact with participants (i.e. no meetings anywhere under any circumstances, whether in an open space such as a park or street, or in a public facility that may be open, or a private residence). All interviews must be conducted virtually with all research participants.
- No contact with Bachelor of Community Development students currently enrolled in the program, or current faculty.

Failure to comply with the foregoing will result in a mark of "0" and the data being confiscated, and the risk of suspension and expulsion from the program. My signature below confirms my agreement to the requirements as described in this agreement.

Investigator's Name (printed)

Investigator's Signature

Date